IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 20-1429

---

DOMENICO CALCATERRA,  
Petitioner-Appellee,

vs.

IOWA BOARD OF MEDICINE,  
Respondent-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT HANSON, JUDGE

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**ANAGHA DIXIT**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5478  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[anagha.dixit@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:anagha.dixit@ag.iowa.gov)  
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Even if the agency's interpretation of the Iowa Code §272C.6(4) is not given deference, was their interpretation of the statute in violation of Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c)?**

### Authorities

*Menegbo v. Iowa Dept. of Inspections and Appeals*, 745 N.W.2d 95 (Table), 2007 WL 4553345 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 28, 2007)

*Hill v. Fleetguard*, 705 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005)

*Wiebenga v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 530 N.W.2d 732, 734 (Iowa 1995)

*Doe v. Iowa Bd. Med. Exam'rs*, 733 N.W.2d 705, 707 (2007)

*Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 831 (Iowa 2002)

*Sindlinger v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents*, 503 N.W.2d 387, 390 (Iowa 1993)

*Office of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa State Commerce Com'n*, 419 N.W.2d 373, 374 (Iowa 1988)

*Churchill Truck Lines, Inc. v. Transp. Regulation Bd.*, 274 N.W.2d 295, 300 (Iowa 1979)

*Office of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa State Commerce Commission*, *supra*, 432 N.W.2d 148, 154 (Iowa 1988)

Iowa Code section 272C.6(4)

Iowa Code chapter 17A

Iowa Code chapter 22



Iowa Code section 17A.12

Iowa Code § 17A.12(2)(d)

Iowa Code 272C.6(4)

*Silva v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 547 N.W.2d 232, 235 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

Iowa Code §4.4(2)

Iowa Code section 272C.6(4)

*Doe v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs* decision in making his case. 733 N.W.2d 705 (Iowa 2007)

*Reveiz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 2007 WL 1342553, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. May 9, 2007) (unpublished)

*Thoms v. Iowa Public Employees' Retirement Sys.*, 715 N.W.2d 7, 10-11 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code § 22.2(1)

Iowa Code section 22.7

*Portz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 563 N.W.2d 592, 595 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa Code section 17A.12(2)(d)

*Alfredo v. Iowa Racing & Gaming Comm'n*, 555 N.W.2d 827, 833 (Iowa 1996)

*Rees v. City of Shanandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77, 79 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(c)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(l)

*Johnson v. Baum*, No. 09-1340, 2010 WL 2757192, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 14, 2010) (unpublished)

2A Normal J. Singer & Shambie Singer, *Statutes & Statutory Construction* §45:12, at 104-06 (7th ed. rev. 2014)

*Brakke v. Iowa Dept. of Natural Resources*, 897 N.W.2d 522, 534 (Iowa 2017)

653 Iowa Admin. Code 23.1(2)

*Rathmann v. Board of Directors of Davenport Comm. School Dist.*, 580 N.W.2d 773, 777 (Iowa 1998)

*Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n v. City of Des Moines*, 313 N.W.2d 491, 495 (Iowa 1981)

*Northeast Council on Substance Abuse, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health*, 513 N.W.2d 757, 759 (Iowa 1994)

*Doe v. Iowa St. Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam'rs*, 320 N.W.2d 557, 559 (Iowa 1982)

Iowa Code §68A.1

Iowa Code §68A.2

Iowa Code §272C.6(4)(2019)

653 Iowa Admin Code 23.1(36)

*Board of Dental Exam'rs v. Hufford*, 461 N.W.2d 194, 196 (Iowa 1990)

*Doe II v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 1996 WL 34451358

Iowa Code section 272C.6(4)

Iowa Code § 804.1; 653 Iowa Admin. Code 25.4(1)

*Yoch v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 353 N.W.2d 95, 101 (Iowa Ct. App. 1984)

*Philpot v. Lucas*, 70 N.W. 625, 626 (Iowa 1897)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 657-35.7 (Board of Pharmacy)

Iowa Admin Code r. 655-20.7 (Board of Nursing)

Iowa Admin Code r. 650-51.6(2)(d) (Dental Board)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 645-11.6(2)(d) (Professional Licensure Division)

*Hope Evangelical Lutheran Church v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue and Finance*, 463 N.W.2d 76, 84 (Iowa 1990)

*Mathis v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 934 N.W.2d 423, 430 (Iowa 2019)

*Iowa Ins. Inst. v. Core Grp. of Iowa Ass'n for Justice*, 867 N.W.2d 58, 77 (Iowa 2015)

*Griffin Pipe Prods. Co. v. Bd. of Review*, 789 N.W.2d 769, 775 (Iowa 2010)

*Dameron v. Newman Brothers, Inc.*, 339 N.W.2d 160, 162 (Iowa 1983)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case presents a substantial issue of first impression that has not been addressed in a published case and presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. For the foregoing reasons, this case should be retained. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c) and (d).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On September 26, 2018, Appellee filed a petition for a declaratory order with the Iowa Board of Medicine (“Board”) pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.9 and Iowa Admin Code 653 r. 1.9. Agency Record (A.R.) at 3-6; Confidential App. P. 5-8. The Petition requested a declaratory order from the Board regarding its interpretation of Iowa Code § 272C.6. The Petition asked the following question: “Does Iowa Code 272C.6(4)(a) prohibit the Board from publicly issuing/publishing statements of charges and issuing/publishing press releases which contain investigation information?” A.R. at 3-6; Confidential App. P. 5-8. On December 7, 2018, Appellee filed a Brief in Support of the position he wished the Board to take on his question. On December 14, 2018, the Board issued a response, refusing to issue a declaratory order on the question posed. A.R. at 75-77; Confidential App. P. 27-29.

Appellee filed a petition for judicial review on December 21, 2018. Petition for Judicial Review; App. P. 19-22. The judicial review petition raised the issues of the Board’s refusal to issue a declaratory order and the merits of the underlying argument. *Id.* The District Court remanded the case and requested that the Board issue a declaratory order in response. Order Denying Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and

Remanding Back to Respondent for Further Proceedings; App. P. 19-20. On August 29, 2019, the Board issued a Declaratory Order confirming that Iowa Code § 272C.6(4)(a) does *not* prohibit the Board from publicly issuing/publishing statements of charges and issuing/publishing press releases which contain investigative information. A.R. at 82-86; Confidential App. P. 30-34. On September 27, 2019, Appellee renewed his petition for judicial review of the Board's declaratory order, citing multiple grounds under Iowa Code §17A.19(10). Amended and Substituted Petition of Judicial Review; App. P. 26-30.

On April 26, 2020, the District Court issued its Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review concluding the Board committed an error at law in its interpretation of Iowa Code §272C.6(4)(a). Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review; App. P. 68-77. On May 7, 2020, the Board filed timely motions to reconsider and stay the ruling of the District Court. Motion for Stay; Motion to Reconsider; App. P. 78-84. On November 2, 2020, the District Court issued an order denying the Board's Motion to Reconsider and finding the Board's Motion for Stay as Moot. Order 11/2/20; App. P. 81-82. Two days later, on November 4, 2020, the Board filed a Notice of Appeal. Notice of Appeal; App. 87-89.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On March 13, 2013, the Board issued a Statement of Charges against the Appellee alleging, in part, that he “engaged in a pattern of disruptive behavior and/or unethical or unprofessional conduct in violation of the law and rules governing the practice of medicine.” A.R. at 7-12; Confidential App. P. 9-14. The Board, upon receipt of different or additional information, filed an Amended Statement of Charges on December 30, 2013. A.R. at 13-16; Confidential App. P. 15-18. Each instance of a Statement of Charges was accompanied by a press release, summarizing the contents of the charges and following the same practice the Board, along with every other Board, had followed for decades. A.R. at 17-18; Confidential App. P. 19-20.

On April 19, 2014, having had the opportunity to consult with counsel and review its contents, the Appellee signed a settlement agreement to resolve his pending disciplinary charges with the Board. A.R. at 24-27; Confidential App. P. 23-26. A press release was issued to reflect the contents of the settlement agreement and the settlement agreement itself was posted on the Board’s website. A.R. at 19; Confidential App. P. 21. Four years later, Appellee filed a petition for a declaratory order (“Petition for D.O.”) with the Board regarding the

publishing of press releases and statements of charges with  
investigatory information. A.R. 3-6; Confidential App. P. 5-8.



## ARGUMENT

### I. **The Board of Medicine Interpretation of Iowa Code § 272C.6 was Not Erroneous**

#### **Preservation of Error and Standard of Review**

The Appellant-Board argued in briefing and at oral argument before the District Court that the Board had authority to interpret the relevant legal provision and, in the event the Board was not vested with interpreting the statute, that the Board's analysis was still reasonable and not arbitrary or capricious. Respondent's Brief at 7-20; App. P. 130-148.

“When a district court exercises its authority on judicial review, it acts in an appellate capacity to correct any errors of law by the agency.” *Menegbo v. Iowa Dept. of Inspections and Appeals*, 745 N.W.2d 95 (Table), 2007 WL 4553345 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 28, 2007) (citing *Hill v. Fleetguard*, 705 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005)). “When we review a district court decision on judicial review, our task is to determine if we would reach the same result as the district court in our application of section 17A.10.” *Manegbo*, 2007 WL 4553345. When the case involves “interpretation of statute that affect [the Board's] work,” a district court defers to the agency's expertise, unless the suggested

interpretation is clearly erroneous. *Wiebenga v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 530 N.W.2d 732, 734 (Iowa 1995).

A declaratory order is considered “other action” for the purposes of this appeal. “[A]s such, we review to determine whether the board committed an error of law, or acted unreasonably, capriciously, or arbitrarily.” *Doe v. Iowa Bd. Med. Exam'rs*, 733 N.W.2d 705, 707 (2007) (citing *Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 831 (Iowa 2002) (citing *Sindlinger v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents*, 503 N.W.2d 387, 390 (Iowa 1993))). “Unreasonableness is defined as ‘action in the face of evidence to which there is no room for difference of opinion among reasonable minds or not based on substantial evidence.’” *Office of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa State Commerce Com'n*, 419 N.W.2d 373, 374 (Iowa 1988) (quoting *Churchill Truck Lines, Inc. v. Transp. Regulation Bd.*, 274 N.W.2d 295, 300 (Iowa 1979)). Arbitrary and capricious refers to agency action taken with no accounting for law or the facts of the case. *Office of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa State Commerce Commission, supra*, 432 N.W.2d 148, 154 (Iowa 1988).

## Merits

### **A. The Board Cannot Comply with the Notice Requirements of Iowa Code §17A.12 Under the District Court's Interpretation.**

The question presented to the Board and before this court for review is whether Iowa Code section 272C.6(4) allows the publishing of press releases and statements of charges containing some investigative information. However, because statutes are not read in a vacuum but, rather, in conjunction with one another, when Iowa Code section 272C.6(4) is read together with Iowa Code chapters 17A and 22, the Board's Declaratory Order is reasonable.

Iowa Code section 17A.12 requires a notice be issued at the commencement of a contested case and explicitly lists what must be included in that notice. The notice must include general information of the time, place, and manner of the hearing. The notice must also include the legal basis, including the statutes or rules that the agency is relying upon as well as a jurisdictional statement. Finally, the notice must include "[a] short and plain statement of the matters asserted." Iowa Code § 17A.12(2)(d). It is significant that the statute separates the rules, statute, and jurisdiction from the matters asserted. It indicates that the legislature intended it to have independent meaning that could

not be encompassed by the remainder of the requirements. Under Appellee's interpretation of Iowa Code 272C.6(4) and the District Court ruling, the Board would be in violation of Iowa Code 17A.12 as they would only be permitted to include the relevant statutory and administrative rule sections but could not include any investigative information, which are the basis for "matters asserted" and allow the Board to comply with the notice pleading standard for contested cases. The factual summary, which naturally pulls some basic investigative information from the confidential report, is the only way to comply with the standard for notices set by Iowa Code 17A.12.

The danger to the Board of reversal of their agency decisions for failure to comply with the notice requirements and thereby failing to provide adequate due process is illustrated in *Silva v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 547 N.W.2d 232, 235 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996). In an agency action in front of the employment appeal board, the notice simply read "Whether the claimant was discharged for misconduct.' No other rule, statute, or issue was included in the notice." *Id.* at 233. The Court determined that this notice was insufficient, not only because it lacked any reference to rules or statutes but also because it lacked any specificity to the matters asserted. "The notice shall include a reference

to the particular sections of statutes and rules implication *and* a short and plain statement of the matters asserted.” *Id.* at 235. “Reference to the notice issued in this case reveals it is plainly deficient in its exclusion of any reference to the statute applicable to voluntary quitting. The notice *also fails* to include this issue in the statement of the matter asserted on appeal.” *Id.* If a mere recitation of the jurisdiction and relevant rules and statutes was sufficient, the legislature would not have felt it necessary to include the language requiring a short and plain statement. See Iowa Code §4.4(2) (“In enacting a statute, it is presumed that. . . .[t]he entire statute is intended to be effective.”).

**B. The Only Appellate Review of This Exact Issue has Favored the Board’s Interpretation.**

This exact same issue has come before the Iowa appellate courts on one other occasion, in the *Reveiz* case, which directly and persuasively answers Appellee’s question. In fact, the Board’s practices related to statements of charges and press releases have been largely governed by the ruling from this case. In *Reveiz*, the licensee filed an application for a temporary and permanent restraining order, “claiming the notice of hearing and statement of charges should be considered confidential under Iowa Code section 272C.6(4)(2005).”

*Reveiz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 2007 WL 1342553, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. May 9, 2007) (unpublished). The court affirmed the district court's ruling that the notice of hearing and statement of charges were public records. They also determined that some investigatory information could be contained in the statement of charges. *Id.* at \*5. As Appellee points out in his brief to the District Court, this case was decided before the Supreme Court issued its ruling in *Doe* that interpreting the word "confidential" in a statute was not within the acute knowledge of the Board and had not been clearly vested to the Board. Brief in Support of Judicial Review and Application for Attorney Fees; App. P. 90-113. However, the court in *Reveiz* went beyond simply stating that the interpretation was acceptable based only on their deference to the agency's interpretation. The Court of Appeals provided a reasoned analysis for its decision and the same analysis should be applied in this case.

Setting aside the fact that the Court in *Reveiz* "conclude[d] interpretation of the statute has clearly been vested by a provision of the law in the discretion of the Board." *Id.* at \*2 (citing *Thoms v. Iowa Public Employees' Retirement Sys.*, 715 N.W.2d 7, 10-11 (Iowa 2006)), the Court still favored the interpretation of the Board. First, they

concluded that, as a governmental body, the Board's documents and records were public records subject to open record laws. *Id.* at \*2. "Public records may be examined, copied, published or otherwise disseminated." *Id.* (citing Iowa Code § 22.2(1)). The Court acknowledged that some public records are made confidential by statute, specifically citing Iowa Code section 22.7, which at the time contained fifty types of confidential records but its current iteration contains well over seventy. *Id.*

The Court then analyzed this statute in conjunction with Iowa Code section 272C.6(4) and agreed, as the Board did, that during the investigation phase, "records that come within the confines of section 272C.6(4) are to be seen only by the board." *Id.* (citing *Portz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 563 N.W.2d 592, 595 (Iowa 1997)). However, nothing in the open records laws or in Iowa Code 272C.6(4) then made or now makes statements of charges, including a notice of hearing, confidential. "In the absence of a statute making the information confidential, the information is a public record, which may be examined, copied, published, or otherwise disseminated." *Reveiz*, 2007 WL 1342553, at \*3 (citing Iowa Code § 22.2(1)).

The District Court in this case has similarly and correctly concluded that when it comes to statements of charges or notices of hearings, those should be considered open records and the Board may continue publishing them on their website. Ruling on Judicial Review at 6-7; App. 64-73. “Despite Petitioner’s assertions to the contrary, the Board is not precluded from issuing press releases and statements of charges in general[.]” *Id.*

The *Reveiz* court took it step further and separately analyzed the logic and legality of including limited investigatory information in the statement of charges. *Reveiz*, 2007 WL 1342553, at \*4. “We turn to the question of the Board’s interpretation of section 272C.6(4) and the [district] court’s conclusion that paragraph ten of the statement of charges should remain confidential under that statute.” *Id.* The Board claimed then, as it does in part today that “it was required by statute to include a factual basis in the notice and statement of charges against Dr. Reveiz.” *Id.*

The statute in question is Iowa Code section 17A.12(2)(d), which “requires that the notice to commence a contested case contain ‘[a] short and plain statement of the matters asserted.’” *Id.* (quoting Iowa Code § 17A.12(2)(d)). “In general, a notice must contain a reference to



the particular statutes implicated, and a short and plain statement of the matters asserted.” *Id.* (citing *Silva*, 547 N.W.2d at 235). “A person must have a reasonable opportunity to know of the claims which affect the person.” *Id.* (citing *Alfredo v. Iowa Racing & Gaming Comm’n*, 555 N.W.2d 827, 833 (Iowa 1996)). “The petition [ ] must contain factual allegations that give the defendant ‘fair notice’ of the claim asserted so the defendant can adequately respond to the petition.” *Id.* (quoting *Rees v. City of Shanandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77, 79 (Iowa 2004)).

With the understanding that both Iowa Code 17A.12(2) and Iowa Code 17A.18(3) required some factual allegations to be included in the notice to the licensee, the Court in *Reveiz* resolved the question of whether investigatory information may be included in the public statement of charges. “In a medical license revocation proceeding, that factual information would necessarily come from the Board’s investigation. Thus, not all information garnered by the Board’s investigation can be kept privileged and confidential.” *Id.* at 5. As stated above, the court in *Reveiz* was the only appellate court to have taken on the *exact* same issue that is before the court today. Although their analysis was whether the Board’s interpretation was irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable, this court’s task is not so different, a

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