**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1429**

---

**DOMENICO CALCATERRA, M.D.,**

**Petitioner-Appellee,**

**vs.**

**IOWA BOARD OF MEDICINE,**

**Respondent-Appellant.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK  
COUNTY HONORABLE ROBERT HANSON, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

Respectfully Submitted,

*/s/ Michael M. Sellers*

Michael M. Sellers, Attorney (AT0007058)

Sellers Galenbeck & Nelson

An Association of Sole Practitioners

400 Locust Street, Suite 170

Des Moines, Iowa 50309-2351

Telephone: (515) 221-0111

Fax: (515) 221-2702

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT APPROPRIATELY INTERPRETED IOWA CODE § 272C.6(4) TO BAR THE PUBLICATION AND DISSEMINATION OF INVESTIGATIVE INFORMATION PRIOR TO A FINAL DECISION BY A LICENSING BOARD.**

Iowa Code § 272C.6(4)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)

*Renda v. Iowa Civ. Rights Commn.*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa 2010)

*Reveiz v. the Iowa Board of Medical Examiners*, 735 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa App. 2007)

*Doe v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 733 N.W.2d 705, 708 (Iowa 2007)

Iowa Code § 272C

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Code § 17A.1(3)

Iowa Code Chapter 22

Iowa Code Chapter 17A

Iowa Code § 17A.12

Iowa Code Chapter § 22.2(1)

Iowa Code § 272C.6(4)(a)

Iowa Code § 22.7(60)

Iowa Code Chapter 21

Iowa Code § 22.6.(4)

Iowa Code § 22.7

Iowa Code Chapter 22

*McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co.*, 288 N.W.2d 181, 188 (Iowa 1980)

*Inc. v. Harker*, 633 N.W.2d 322, 325 (Iowa 2001)

*State v. Vander Esch*, 662 N.W.2d 689 (Ia. App.2002)

Iowa Code section 272C.4(2)

Iowa Code § 17A.3

*Dillon v. City of Davenport*, 366 N.W. 2d 918, 922 (Iowa 1985)

*Brakke v. Iowa Dept. of Nat. Resources*, 897 N.W.2d 522, 534 (Iowa 2017)

*Cawthorn v. Catholic Health Initiatives Iowa Corp.*, 743 N.W.2d 525, 528 (Iowa 2007)

*Thomas v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 749 N.W.2d 678, 687 (Iowa 2008)

*Miller v. Bd. of Med. Examiners of State of Iowa*, 609 N.W.2d 478 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa Code § 272C.6(1)

Iowa Code § 17A.4B

Iowa Code § 17A.12

Iowa R. of App. P. 6.110(5)

Iowa Code § 272C.6(1)

### **Preservation of Error**

Dr. Calcaterra agrees that all the arguments made by the Board, namely that (1) the Board's interpretation of Iowa Code § 272C.6(4) is correct, and (2) that public policy favors the Board's interpretation were argued by the Board throughout the administrative process and at the district court level and were properly preserved for appeal. Any novel arguments by the Board are directed at the district court decision from which this appeal was made and appropriate for consideration by this Court.

### **Standard of Review**

This Court has stated:

Judicial review of an agency decision is controlled by the provisions of Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) (2009). [citation omitted] We will apply the standards of section 17A.19(10) to determine if we reach the same results as the district court. The district court may grant relief if the agency action has prejudiced the substantial rights of the petitioner and if the agency action meets one of the enumerated criteria contained in section 17A.19(10)(a) through (n). *Renda v. Iowa Civ. Rights Commn.*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa 2010).

And that:

Normally, the interpretation of a statute is a pure question of law over which agencies are not delegated any special powers by the General Assembly so, a court is free to, and usually does, substitute its judgment *de novo* for that of the agency and determine if the agency interpretation of the statute is correct.... But, where the General Assembly clearly delegates *discretionary* authority to an agency to interpret or elaborate a statutory term based on the agency's own special expertise, the court may not simply substitute its view as to the meaning or elaboration of the term for that of the agency but, instead, may reverse the agency interpretation or elaboration only if it is arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, or an abuse of discretion—a deferential standard of review. *Renda v. Iowa Civ. Rights Commn.*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 11 (Iowa 2010).

Contrary to the Board assertion (Board's Brief at p. 25), neither this Court nor the district court is required to give the Board deference in this matter.

The Board relies primarily on *Reveiz v. the Iowa Board of Medical Examiners*, 735 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa App. 2007) for the proposition that the Board's interpretation of Iowa Code 272C.6(4) should be given deference. Board's Brief at pp. 21, 23, 25, 26.

*Reveiz* is a 2007 Court of Appeals decision which the Board itself concedes and the district court confirms is not controlling authority. Order, Motion to Reconsider footnote at p. 2 (November 2, 2020) App. p.82.; Board's Motion to Reconsider at p. 1 (May 7, 2020). App. p.74.

The Court of Appeals in *Reveiz* determined that the interpretation of 272C.6(4) was clearly vested in the Iowa Board of Medicine and that therefore the

court was forced to give the Board deference. *Reveiz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 735 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa App. 2007).

The Board now argues that the holding in *Reveiz* favors the Board's interpretation even without deference. Brief at p. 20. However, it is clear from the *Reveiz* case and the Board's own citation to that case that this is not so.

The Court of Appeals in *Reveiz* concluded that, "... *the Board's interpretation* of section 272C.6(4), which would allow it to use limited information obtained through the Board's investigation in the statement of charges, is not irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable." *Reveiz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 735 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa App. 2007). (Emphasis added).

While the Board appears to claim, regardless of the deferential standard employed by the Court of Appeals, that the *Reveiz* Court reasoned the Board is required to make investigative information public. However, even the citation to *Reveiz* quoted by the Board in its own brief states, "We turn to question of *the Board's interpretation* of 272C.6(4) and the [district] court's conclusion that paragraph ten of the statement of charges should remain confidential under the statute." Board's Brief at p. 23, citing *Reveiz*. It is clear, that the Court of Appeals was embracing the Board's interpretation of 272C.6(4) and that it colored the reasoning throughout the *Reveiz* opinion.

In 2007, one month after the Court of Appeals rendered its decision in *Reveiz*, this Supreme Court, in evaluating the exact same statutory provision – Iowa Code § 272C.6(4) – stated:

The legislature did not give the board discretion to determine what information is, and is not, confidential. Instead, the legislature attempted to draw a line between confidential and public information in the context of licensee discipline and, in so doing, chose not to give the board discretion to do so. Therefore, we review the board's interpretation of section 272 C.6(4) for correction of errors at law pursuant to section 17A.19(10)(c) and not under the more deferential standard of section 17A.19(10)(l). *Doe v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 733 N.W.2d 705, 708 (Iowa 2007) as relied upon by the District Court, Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review at p 5 (April 26, 2020).

The conclusion of this Court in *Doe* makes sense.

The Iowa Board of Medicine is appointed to harness their medical knowledge to protect the citizens of Iowa.

Decisions about what constitutes confidential information or what procedural protections should be afforded licensees who are subject to Board sanction does not fall within that special expertise. That is a question which falls within the competence of the courts.

Nor should the Board of Medicine, which plays the role of policymaker, investigator, prosecutor, judge and jury also be responsible for interpreting the procedural rules to the disadvantage of the licensees whose careers are at the mercy of the Board's jurisdiction. The Legislature has not explicitly or implicitly given the

Board domain to interpret Iowa Code § 272C. *Doe v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 733 N.W.2d 705, 708 (Iowa 2007).

Iowa Code § 17A.19 and § 272C contain procedural safeguards to assure licensees are protected from unrelenting agency power, “... to simplify government by assuming a uniform minimum procedure ... to increase the fairness of agencies in their conduct of contested case proceedings ... to strike a fair balance between these purposes and the need for efficient, economic and effective government administration.” Iowa Code § 17A.1(3) and (4).

By unshackling the court from viewing the protections devised by the Legislature in Iowa Code Chapter 272C through the lens of the Board of Medicine and its mission; this Court in *Doe* was able to return to licensees the fairness and balance the Legislature sought to establish when it drafted Iowa Code Chapter 272C – a balance which has been on hiatus for more than 30 years.

This is the balance this Court recognized in *Doe*.

This is the balance the district court found in the case at bar. Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review at p. 5. App. p.68.

This is the balance we are asking this Court to confirm today.

This Court owes the Board no deference.

**A. NO CONFLICT EXISTS AMONG IOWA CODE CHAPTERS, 272C, 17A OR 22 TO JUSTIFY JUDICIAL INTERVENTION TO OVERCOME THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF IOWA CODE § 272C.6(4) WHICH CLEARLY MAKES INVESTIGATIVE INFORMATION IN LICENSING BOARD MATTERS CONFIDENTIAL.**

The primary legal argument made by the Board is that it is impossible for the Board to both give adequate notice of potential sanction to the licensee without sharing said notice with the public pursuant to Iowa's Open Records Law.

This is simply not true.

No conflict exists among Iowa Code Chapter 22, Iowa's Public Records Act, Iowa Code Chapter § 272C.6(4) or Iowa Code Chapter 17A, Iowa's Administrative Procedure Act, to demand this Court determine which of these statutes must give way. In fact, these three code chapters pave a clear path to maintaining the confidentiality of investigative information until or unless a licensing board includes it in a final disciplinary decision as Iowa Code Chapter § 272C.6(4) provides.

1. THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF IOWA CODE §17A.12 DOES NOT DEMAND SUCH NOTICE BE MADE PUBLIC AND THEREFORE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH IOWA CODE § 272C.6(4)(a) CONFIDENTIALITY.

Iowa Code § 17A.12 requires parties receive notice of, "... a statement of legal authority and jurisdiction ...," "... a reference to a particular section of the statutes involved," and a "... short and plain statement of the matters asserted ...," among other requirements. App. p. 100.

What the Board argues is that a “.... short and plain statement of the matters asserted ...,” cannot be made without relying on investigative information. Dr. Calcaterra agrees; however, disagrees this short and plain statement must be made public.

Contrary to the Board’s assertion that the District Court in this case concluded “... that when it comes to statements of charges or notices of hearing, those should be considered public records and the Board may continue publishing them on their website;” *what the District Court actually concluded is that*, “... the Board is not precluded from issuing press releases and statements of charges in general, but the board cannot disseminate investigative information before they issue a final written decision in the matter.” Board Brief at p. 23; Order at p. 6-7. (April 26, 2020). App. p.69-70. The District Court *absolutely did not say* that statements of charges or notices of hearing “... *should be considered public records. ...*”

Iowa Code § 17A.12 does not refer to a statement of charges or notice to the public but specifically states, “... all *parties* shall be afforded an opportunity for hearing after reasonable notice in writing delivered either by personal service as in civil actions or by certified mail return receipt requested.” (emphasis added). Certainly, the Legislature did not intend the Board to notify the public by United States Postal Service.

Iowa Code § 17A.12 does not demand, nor does it suggest that notice to a licensee be a public record. *See generally* Iowa Code § 17A.12. In fact, Iowa Code Chapter 22 provides that a document which initiates disciplinary proceedings is required to be kept confidential. Iowa Code § 22.7(60) *see* argument in §3.

2. IOWA CODE § 272C.6(4) IS A STATUTE THAT MAKES INVESTIGATIVE INFORMATION CONFIDENTIAL PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE CHAPTER 22.

The Iowa Public Records Act extends the right to examine government records to “every person,” not government agencies. Iowa Code Chapter § 22.2(1). Chapter 22 requires “*In the absence of a statute making the information confidential,* the information is a public record, which may be examined, copied, published, or otherwise disseminated.” *Reveiz v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 735 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa App. 2007). (Emphasis added).

Iowa Code § 272C.6(4) *is* a such a statute. Iowa Code § 272C.6(4) makes investigative information relating to licensee discipline confidential.

Iowa Code 272C.6(4) states, in part, “... all complaint files, investigation files, other investigation reports, and other investigative information in the possession of a licensing board or peer review committee ... which relates to licensee discipline are ***privileged and confidential*** and are not subject to discovery, subpoena, or other means of legal compulsion for their release to a person other than the licensee and the boards ... However, a final written decision and finding of fact

of a licensing board in a disciplinary proceeding ... is a public record.” Iowa Code § 272C.6(4). (Emphasis added).

The district court in the case at bar concluded, “... [t]he plain language of the statute (272C.6(4)) is clear and unambiguous. Subject to certain exceptions not relevant here, investigative information is privileged and confidential unless and until such information is disclosed in the findings of fact section of a final written decision made at the conclusion of a disciplinary proceeding.” Order at p.6 (April 26, 2020) (Parenthetical added) App. p. 69.

Iowa Code § 272C.6(4) is a statute which makes investigative information confidential. Therefore, the § 272C.6(4)(a) confidentiality provided to licensees does not offend Iowa’s Open Records Act.

### 3. IOWA CODE CHAPTER 22.7(60) SPECIFICALLY MAKES THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN STATEMENTS OF CHARGES AND PRESS RELEASES CONFIDENTIAL.

In addition to Iowa Code § 272C.6(4), Iowa Code § 22.7(60) specifically makes statements of charges (and press releases) confidential.

Iowa Code Chapter § 22.7(60) makes confidential, “Information in a record that would permit a governmental body subject to Chapter 21 [Iowa’s Open Meetings Law] to hold a closed session pursuant to section 21.5 in order to avoid public discourse of that information, until such time *as a final action* is taken ....” Iowa Code § 22.6(4).

Iowa Code Chapter 21 states, “A government body may hold a closed session ... for any of the following reasons ... To discuss the contents of a licensing examination or whether to initiate licensee disciplinary investigations or proceedings if the government body is a licensing or examining board.” Iowa Code § 21.5

Statements of charges are entirely composed of “... information in a record ...,” pertaining to a licensing board’s decision to “... initiate licensee disciplinary ... proceedings.” Iowa Code Chapter 21 allows a Board to discuss such matters in private and Iowa Code § 22.7(60) states that any information related to such a meeting, “... shall be kept confidential.” Iowa Code § 22.7.

By the demand of Iowa Code Chapter 22.7 alone, statements of charges and certainly press releases, “... shall be kept confidential.” Iowa Code Chapter 21.5; Iowa Code Chapter 22.7(60). Because Iowa Code Chapter 22 actually casts a wider cloak of confidentiality over information relating to licensee discipline than that in Chapter 272C, Iowa Code Chapter 22 does not conflict with Iowa Code § 272C.6(4).

**4. THE STATUTORY SCHEME AMONG IOWA CODE CHAPTERS 17A, CHAPTER 22 AND 272C IS CLEAR THAT ONLY FINAL DECISIONS OF A LICENSING BOARD ARE INTENDED TO BE PUBLIC RECORDS.**

While the Iowa Supreme Court has recognized that the plain language of a statute should prevail, it is only in cases of ambiguity where the court should attempt to give meaning to the language chosen by Legislature and, “... should be accorded a logical, sensible construction which gives harmonious meaning to related sections

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